1992

LeAnna Robbins v. Old Republic Surety, North  
Western National Insurance Comapny of  
Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Atlas Stock Transfer, Check  
Rite International Inc., Cardinal Energy  
Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction over this appeal is based on Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(j), as amended, 1989.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether a person who has sustained undisputed damages under an open penalty indemnity bond issued to protect her and who receives no cooperation of any kind from either the issuer of the stock, the issuer's transfer agent, or the insurance company which issued the bond (Cross-Appellees herein), during which time such person's stock -- which she is prevented from obtaining possession of -- increases substantially in value, has a cause of action against any or all such entities for breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing (i.e., Count III of Cross-Appellant's amended complaint). [Emphasis added.]

Whether a person who has sustained undisputed damages under an open penalty indemnity bond issued to protect her and who is instructed by the obligee to deal directly with the obligor on the bond to resolve her claim, and, who does in fact deal directly with the bonding companies for several months to no avail (while the stock such person/owner has been deprived of increases substantially in value in the interim), and who is further informed directly by the bonding companies that they will resolve the claim with her directly but never do, has a cause of action against the bonding companies for either breach of an implied third-party beneficiary contract or bad faith refusal

(i.e., Counts IV and V of Cross-Appellant's amended complaint).  
[Emphasis added.]

(a) Standard of Review.

Because this appeal involves summary dismissal of Cross-Appellant Robbins' claims, this Court is free to reappraise the trial court's legal conclusions. Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 104 Utah Adv. Rep. 4, 771 P.2d 1033, 1039 (Utah Sup. Ct. 1989); Commerce Financial v. Markwest Corp., 142 Ut. Adv. Rep. 20, 22, 806 P.2d 200 (Ut. Ct. of App. 1990). Accordingly, this Court reviews the trial court's conclusions of law for correctness and accords them no particular deference. Bountiful v. Riley, 124 Utah Adv. Rep. 15, 784 P.2d 1174, 1175 (Ut. Sup. Ct. 1989).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The lower court's cursory dismissal of Counts III, IV, and V of Mrs. Robbins' amended complaint violates the open court provisions of the Utah Constitution. Art. 1, §11, Title 1A, Utah Code Ann., p. 83. It may also violate the Seventh Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. Title 1A, Utah Code Ann., p. 20.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(a) Nature of the proceedings. This appeal involves summary dismissal of Counts III, IV, and V of Cross-Appellant/Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, Exhibit "A" hereto; R. 69-114. Count III alleges a tort claim against all Cross-Appellees for breach of an implied covenant of good faith

and fair dealing; Count IV alleges breach of an implied third-party beneficiary contract as against the Insurance Company Appellees ("ICAs"); Count V alleges the tort of bad faith refusal on the part of the ICAs.

(b) Course of proceedings and disposition below. The lower court granted Cross-Appellant Robbins' motion for summary judgment on Counts I and II of her amended complaint. The Cross-Appellees' then obtained Rule 54(b) certification to appeal such ruling. Mrs. Robbins thus filed this cross-appeal relative to Counts III, IV, and V. Mrs. Robbins' negligence claim remains intact below and a trial, for obvious economic reasons, cannot proceed until this appeal is resolved.

#### RELEVANT FACTS

1. Several years ago, Cross-Appellant/Plaintiff LeAnna (Broadwater) Robbins<sup>1</sup> ("Cross-Appellant" or "Mrs. Robbins") purchased 8,000 shares of stock of Cross-Appellee Check Rite International, Inc. ("Check Rite") from Potter Investment Company, a local securities broker-dealer. (¶13, Amended Complaint, Exhibit "A" hereto; R. 69-114.)

2. Pursuant to her purchase, Mrs. Robbins received Check Rite Certificate No. 258, registered in the name of Defendant Scott J. Fletcher ("Fletcher"), a certificate which was

---

<sup>1</sup> Since this case was filed in 1989, Cross-Appellant/Plaintiff has remarried and now goes by the name of Robbins as opposed to Broadwater.

endorsed-over by Fletcher and properly signature guaranteed.  
(¶13, Amended Complaint.)

3. Mrs. Robbins held the certificate in "street name" and in May, 1988, presented such certificate to Check Rite's transfer agent for registration into her name. The price of Check Rite stock was trading at about 25¢-30¢ per share. (¶36, Amended Complaint.)

4. On May 4, 1988, after Mrs. Robbins had presented Certificate No. 258 to Check Rite's stock transfer agent, Cross-Appellee Atlas Stock Transfer ("Atlas"), for transfer and registration into her name, Atlas refused transfer, kept Mrs. Robbins' certificate, and canceled it, further refusing to issue her a new certificate. (See Exhibit "J" to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, Exhibit "A" hereto.) Atlas' justification for refusal was that Certificate No. 258 had been reported lost or stolen by Defendant Scott J. Fletcher. In reality, however, Fletcher had previously sold such certificate through Potter Investment, who had in turn sold the same to Mrs. Robbins. In other words, because Fletcher had posted a lost instrument bond relative to Certificate No. 258 and, as a result, obtained 8,000 additional replacement shares for himself, Atlas was required to place a "stop transfer" on Certificate No. 258. (¶37, Amended Complaint.)

5. Atlas informed Mrs. Robbins that Fletcher had posted the open penalty indemnity bond with Cross-Appellee Northwestern

National (hereinafter "Insurance Company Appellee" or "ICA")<sup>2</sup>. Atlas further instructed Mrs. Robbins to deal directly with Northwestern to resolve her claim. Atlas said that it did not know how to contact Northwestern about this problem inasmuch as it was "Northwestern's problem." Atlas specifically advised Mrs. Robbins to contact Northwestern directly and resolve the matter with it on her own. (¶s 37 and 38, Amended Complaint; ¶3, Exhibit "B" hereto.)

6. While Mrs. Robbins was instructed to deal directly with the ICAs, it is undisputed that the ICAs first received formal notice of her claim by at least May 20, 1988. (¶2, Exhibit "D" hereto, R. 390; Answers to Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories.)

7. Mrs. Robbins, with due diligence, sought to and did contact the ICAs' local Salt Lake branch office(s) as per Atlas' instructions. When she reached someone there in May 1988, she gave an employee the entire factual situation and background. Such employee informed Mrs. Robbins that he or she would "look into the situation" and immediately get back to her. Mrs. Robbins heard nothing. Having heard nothing for some time, Mrs. Robbins again phoned and reiterated the facts of her problem and informed the ICAs that Atlas had told her that they would

---

<sup>2</sup> Insurance Company Appellee Northwestern, the obligor on the open penalty indemnity bond subject of this suit, was absorbed by Insurance Company Appellee Old Republic Surety. Thus, both were named as defendants in Mrs. Robbins' Amended Complaint.

remedy the problem, specifically, that they would buy her 8,000 replacement shares of Check Rite. The local ICA employee Mrs. Robbins again talked to on this second occasion said he or she would look into the matter and again get back to Mrs. Robbins. Mrs. Robbins again heard nothing for some time. Becoming frustrated that no one would help her, Mrs. Robbins phoned the Salt Lake ICA office a third time and demanded to know who she had to speak to directly to resolve her problem. At such point, Mrs. Robbins was directed to the ICAs' home office in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. Mrs. Robbins telephoned the home office of the ICAs and eventually, after much time, effort, conversation, and inquiry, was able, in late June 1988, to talk to Mr. Paul S. Guardalabene ("Guardalabene"), Assistant Claims Attorney for the ICAs. (¶2, Exhibit "D" hereto, R. 389-392; ¶'s 39 and 40, Amended Complaint.)

8. Guardalabene, the ICAs' agent and employee, informed Mrs. Robbins that he would resolve the matter with her directly. (¶'s 40 and 41 and Exhibits "K" and "L", Amended Complaint; ¶4, Exhibit "B" hereto, R. 186-190.)

9. During this time, namely, June end/early July 1988, Guardalabene contacted George "John" Potter of Potter Investment Company, the local stock brokerage firm who had sold Certificate No. 258 to Mrs. Robbins. Mr. Potter informed Guardalabene that penny stocks such as Check Rite were "highly volatile" and that, not knowing whether it could skyrocket in price, Guardalabene

ought to hurry and buy Mrs. Robbins 8,000 shares of replacement stock. (Affidavit of George "John" Potter, R. 381-383; ¶42, Amended Complaint.)

10. Guardalabene and Mrs. Robbins, during the ensuing period, continued to converse and Guardalabene led Mrs. Robbins to reasonably believe that the ICAs had a direct legal obligation of some kind to her, particularly in that there was no other reason why Guardalabene took it upon himself to resolve the matter with her directly. (¶41, Amended Complaint; ¶'s 4 and 5, Exhibit "B" hereto.)

11. Based on her direct and continued dealings with the Guardalabene, Mrs. Robbins came to believe that she had a "contract" of some kind with the ICAs or that they otherwise had a legal duty or other obligation to resolve the problem directly with her. (¶4, Exhibit "B" hereto.)

12. It is undisputed that between May 1988 and early August 1988 -- the time period during which Guardalabene was negotiating directly with Mrs. Robbins and allegedly investigating the matter -- the price of Check Rite stock increased from approximately 25¢ per share to \$1-5/16ths per share.<sup>3</sup> It is further undisputed that Guardalabene knew the price of Check Rite was on the rise and continuing to rise during this time. (¶'s 47 and 49 and Exhibit "L", Amended Complaint.)

---

<sup>3</sup> This was due to the fact that Check Rite announced some kind of merger transaction -- a transaction which, after several months, eventually fell through.



13. As time went on, Guardalabene neglected to investigate the matter and, after stalling Mrs. Robbins for several months, continued to inform Mrs. Robbins that he was still "working on it." Eventually, to further stall Mrs. Robbins' claim, Guardalabene even went so far as to instruct Mrs. Robbins to deal directly with Defendant Fletcher. (¶15, Exhibit "E" hereto, R. 415.) Eventually, after several months and while the price of Check Rite stock had risen dramatically in price and reached its peak, Guardalabene finally informed Mrs. Robbins that there was a question as to whether Fletcher's signature on Certificate No. 258 was a forgery. (¶17, Exhibit "B" hereto, R. 188.) This latest excuse on the part of Guardalabene was put forth even though Fletcher himself sold the stock and had received a check from his stockbroker, Potter Investment, for its sale. (¶143, Amended Complaint; ¶17, Exhibit "B" hereto; ¶15, Exhibit "E" hereto.)

14. After the market price of Check Rite plummeted, Guardalabene informed Mrs. Robbins that she never should have been dealing with him all along -- as if it had been her fault for taking his representations at face value for several months -- and he informed her that she then had to deal, and should have dealt all along with Cross-Appellees Atlas, Check Rite, or even Defendant Fletcher. (¶146, Amended Complaint; ¶'s 8 and 9, Exhibit "B" hereto; ¶15, Exhibit "E.")

15. Because Mrs. Robbins was unable to possess and sell her 8,000 shares of Check Rite, Mrs. Robbins believes she has been directly damaged by the ICAs' continuous "lulling activity", regardless of how such is characterized in her Amended Complaint. (¶9, Exhibit "B" hereto; ¶7, Exhibit "D" hereto.)

16. Mrs. Robbins never received any replacement stock or any other compensation as a result of the conduct of Cross-Appellees. Mrs. Robbins also does not recall the ICAs ever having informed her that she was not an "obligee" on the bond until after the price of Check Rite stock had plummeted. [Emphasis added.] The ICAs further never informed Mrs. Robbins that she was not an "intended beneficiary" on the bond. Thus, there can be no dispute that Mrs. Robbins was led to believe by the ICAs that it was appropriate for her to have been dealing with them directly to resolve her claim. (¶'s 41, 43, 44, 45, and 46 of Amended Complaint; ¶2 and 6, Exhibit "D" hereto; ¶3, Exhibit "E" hereto.)

17. After the price of Check Rite dropped and because Mrs. Robbins did not believe that the matter would ever be resolved, Mrs. Robbins hired counsel who exchanged settlement correspondence with Guardalabene commencing as late as September 21, 1988. Since no settlement could be reached by the parties as to Mrs. Robbins' damages, and in the interim, because the stock had fallen well below \$1.25 and  $\$1\text{-}5/16\text{ths}$  per share to virtual worthlessness, this suit was filed by Mrs. Robbins in April 1989.

As a direct result of being forced by the Cross-Appellees to hire legal counsel to resolve the problem -- a problem that should have been resolved without litigation -- Mrs. Robbins has also incurred substantial unwarranted attorney's fees and costs as additional damages. (¶'s 8 and 9, Exhibit "B" hereto; ¶5, Exhibit "E" hereto.)

18. On June 26, 1989, after Mrs. Robbins filed her Amended Complaint in the lower court, the ICAs made a motion to dismiss. The trial court ordered such motion held in abeyance until discovery was completed. (R. 259-260.) Mrs. Robbins resisted such motion with two affidavits, copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibits "B" and "C".<sup>4</sup> (R. 186-195) While discovery in the lower court proceedings has never been completed, the ICAs, on February 27, 1990, renewed, re-entitled and re-filed their previous motion to dismiss as one for partial summary judgment dismissing Counts III, IV, and V of the Amended Complaint. (R. 307-309) At the same time, no new arguments or facts were presented to the lower court by the ICAs. Mrs. Robbins resisted such renewed motion with her affidavit filed in support of her own motion for summary judgment on Counts I and II, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "D." (R. 389-392) Mrs. Robbins further resisted the "renewed" motion

-----  
<sup>4</sup> Mrs. Robbins also made a request to treat the ICAs' motion to dismiss as one for summary judgment (R. 183-185), a request ignored by the lower court. See last sentence of Rule 12(b)(6), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

with her own opposing affidavit and a Rule 56(f) affidavit attesting how and why discovery was not complete as to Counts III, IV, and V, the latter of which was consistent with the lower court's previous ruling in that regard. The latter two opposing affidavits are attached hereto as Exhibits "E" and "F."

(R. 413-416 and 542-547, respectively). Nonetheless, on May 24, 1990, the lower court dismissed Counts III, IV, and V without cause and as an obvious trade-off for granting Mrs. Robbins a summary judgment on Counts I and II of her Amended Complaint, a judgment which Cross-Appellees have also appealed to this Court. (R. 710-712; see also Exhibit "B" to Mrs. Robbins' Docketing Statement.) This cross-appeal has ensued.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The crux of Mrs. Robbins' cross-appeal is Rule 12(b)(6), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. There can be little dispute that Mrs. Robbins has been damaged by the Cross-Appellees.

Mrs. Robbins merely lent titles to Counts III, IV, and V in an effort to give Cross-Appellees some notice as to that with which they are charged. The titles of such causes of action are not on trial -- only the potential liability of Cross-Appellees. Yet, such liability should be within the province of a jury. The lower court simply ignored U.S. and Utah Supreme Court standards

in dismissing counts III-V of Mrs. Robbins' amended complaint as a matter of law.<sup>5</sup>

Mrs. Robbins' fourth claim for relief, a claim against the ICAs grounded in contract, is valid because Mrs. Robbins is a creditor beneficiary and/or an intended beneficiary on the bond. Further, the bond by its own terms, provides for "absolute liability." (See Exhibit "E" to the amended complaint, Ex. "A" hereto.)

Mrs. Robbins' third and fifth claims for relief are grounded in tort. These claims are valid based on Beck v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 701 P.2d 795 (Ut. Sup. Ct. 1985) and Culp Construction Co. v. Buildmart Mall, 137 Utah Adv. Rep. 4, 6 and notes 9 and 12, 795 P.2d 650 (Ut. Sup. Ct. 1990) (" . . . our holding in Beck does not preclude the bringing of a tort claim independently of a contract claim . . . . Furthermore, 'privity of contract is not a necessary prerequisite to liability.'").

-----  
<sup>5</sup> Conely v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46, 78 S.Ct. 99, 101-102, 2 L.Ed.2d 80 (1957)(a complaint should not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond doubt that plaintiff can prove no set of facts that would entitle him to relief); Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 94 S.Ct. 1683, 40 L.Ed.2d 90 (1974)(a trial court, in ruling on a motion to dismiss, is required to view the complaint in a light most favorable to plaintiff); Hishon v. King & Spaulding, 467 U.S. 69, 73, 104 S.Ct. 2229, 2232-33, 81 L.Ed.2d 59 (1984)(it is only proper to dismiss a complaint for failure to state a claim when plaintiff can prove no set of facts which would entitle plaintiff to relief); Burnett v. Utah Power & Light Co., 142 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, 797 P.2d 1096 (Ut. Sup. Ct. September 4, 1990)(involuntary dismissal is a severe measure and is only appropriate where it appears to a "certainty" that plaintiff cannot recover); Avila v. Winn, 136 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, 794 P.2d 20, 22 (Ut. Sup. Ct. 1990)(involuntary dismissal only allowed if plaintiff fails to show that upon the facts and the law, he or she has no right to recover).

DETAIL OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

AS A MATTER OF LAW, MRS. ROBBINS IS A THIRD-PARTY CREDITOR BENEFICIARY ON THE OPEN PENALTY INDEMNITY BOND AND THEREFORE COUNT IV OF HER AMENDED COMPLAINT STATES A VALID CAUSE OF ACTION IN CONTRACT AGAINST THE INSURANCE COMPANY CROSS-APPELLEES ("ICA"s).

The ICAs admit in the lower court proceedings that the open penalty indemnity bond upon which Mrs. Robbins is suing is a third-party beneficiary contract. They contend, however, that Mrs. Robbins is not an "intended beneficiary" thereunder. This contention is made even though the bond reads as follows:

The Surety agrees that its liability herein under shall be absolute, regardless of any liability of the Principal hereunder, whether by reason of any irregular or unauthorized execution of, or failure to execute this bond, or any absence or interest of the Principal in the subject matter hereof, or otherwise.  
[Emphasis added.]

See Exhibit "E" to Mrs. Robbins' Amended Complaint, a copy of the bond in issue.

Relative to Mrs. Robbins' contract claim, the threshold issue is whether Mrs. Robbins is either a donee beneficiary or creditor beneficiary under the bond. Schwinghammer v. Alexander, 21 Utah 2d 418, 446 P.2d 1254, 415 (Sup. Ct. of Ut. 1968) (holding that one must be either a donee or creditor beneficiary to have an enforceable contract right).<sup>6</sup> In Fleck v. National Property

-----  
<sup>6</sup> See also Ringwood v. Foreign Auto Works, Inc., 125 Utah Adv. Rep. 45, 47, 795 P.2d 1138 (Ut. Ct. App. 1990); Palmer v. Davis, 155 Utah Adv. Rep. 34, 36, \_\_ P.2d \_\_ (Ut. Ct. App. March 7, 1991).

Management, Inc., 590 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Sup. Ct. of Ut. 1979), this Court held that a creditor beneficiary is one in whom the promisee's expressed intent is that some third-party shall receive performance and satisfaction in discharge of some actual supposed duty or liability of the promisee, in this case, Cross-Appellees Atlas and Check Rite. In this case, the purpose of the bond was to insure that Mrs. Robbins would be issued or delivered replacement stock in satisfaction and discharge of the duty or liability created by such bond.

In the trial court below, the ICAs cited Tracy Collins Bank & Trust v. Dickamore, 652 P.2d 1314 (Ut. 1982), for the proposition that nothing in the bond agreement evidences that the ICAs intended to benefit Mrs. Robbins. On the contrary, the bond instrument, by its own terms, states that the liability of the obligor, namely, the ICAs, is "absolute." Further, the bond was put up or posted for Mrs. Robbins' exclusive benefit though no one knew who she was or would be, unlike the facts in Tracy Collins.

In this case, there is no question that the bond was put up explicitly for Mrs. Robbins' benefit or someone like her, otherwise there would have been no reason for Defendant Fletcher to have obtained it. Tracy Collins involved a secured creditor who never enforced its right as such. There is no question that the Cross-Appellees in this case obtained the bond to protect a person like Mrs. Robbins at the time the bond was posted.

[Emphasis Ours.] In Tracy Collins, the contracting parties knew nothing of the secured creditor plaintiff at the time the contract was entered into. The Tracy Collins Court further said that if benefits are "incidental" then the person suing cannot recover.<sup>7</sup>

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