1992

# LeAnna Robbins v. Old Republic Surety, North Western National Insurance Company of Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Atlas Stock Transfer, Check Rite International, Inc., Cardinal Energy Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellants Old Republic, Atlas and Check Rite contend that the lower court erred in determining that \$1-5/16ths per share is the proper measure of Mrs. Robbins' damages. At the same time, it is undisputed that this figure is the highest price Check Rite stock attained within 90 days after May 4, 1988, the date of Atlas' letter to Mrs. Robbins announcing that it was keeping her stock certificate. See Exhibit "J" to Mrs. Robbins' amended complaint. As set forth below, there are several recognized ways of measuring damages for conversion of chattels having a fluctuating value, any one of which results in the same conclusion: in this case, \$1-5/16ths per share is proper. See Brougham v. Swarva, 661 P.2d 138, 143-44 (Wash. App. 1983)(listing the various recognized ways of measuring damages for conversion of chattels having a fluctuating value).

Appellants argue that the so-called "New York Rule" exclusively applies to this case and that, under such rule, 90 days after May 4, 1988, is not a "reasonable time." Yet as admitted in Appellants' brief, the "reasonable time" rule is designed to give the injured party the time and opportunity to determine what to do. Appellants' brief, p. 11. In this case, the very admitted and undisputed conduct of Old Republic (i.e., Guardalabene) justified extending any shorter "reasonable time" simply because Guardalabene himself investigated the matter for well over 90 days. In fact, Guardalabene never did complete his investigation. Further, Mrs. Robbins was told that she didn't have to do anything during the 90 day period other than apparently wait for Guardalabene to complete his investigation. See Mrs. Robbins' affidavits, Exhibits 3 and 4 hereto. Thus, the Appellants are barred by their very own conduct from arguing that a "reasonable time" should be any less than 90 days.<sup>2</sup>

In addition, it would be against public policy to assess a "reasonable time" in this case at any less than 90 days. This is because it would encourage those like Old Republic, Atlas and Check Rite to purposely stall claimants for a period beyond 10 or 30 days in order to make the very arguments they are now making

---

<sup>2</sup> Saying it another way, how can over 90 days be "reasonable" for professionals like Appellants but less than 90 days is not "reasonable" for a lay person like Mrs. Robbins? If one puts oneself in Mrs. Robbins' shoes, how should she have acted differently? Furthermore, in deferring to Old Republic, Atlas and Check Rite, the converters, are stuck with the consequences of Old Republic's action (or inaction).

before this Court. The law must be flexible and attentive to the nuances of each case: a "reasonable time" depends on the facts and circumstances of each case and in this case, 90 days, the time period during which Guardalabene (Old Republic) negotiated directly and continuously with Mrs. Robbins in bad faith, is "reasonable."<sup>3</sup> If 90 days is not a "reasonable time" based on the existence of a bond and the undisputed conduct of Guardalabene and Atlas, then insurance companies and their obligees can merely delay the resolution of a similar bond claim beyond a shorter "reasonable time" in every instance, thus, hoping that claimants like Mrs. Robbins will eventually get tired, disappear, or otherwise compromise themselves.<sup>4</sup>

Appellants' willful, knowing and ignoble conduct is wrong and it should not be rewarded. Brougham v. Swarva supra at p. 144. On the contrary, all the Appellants had to do was go in the market and buy Mrs. Robbins 8,000 shares of replacement stock when she first made her claim. This is not to ignore that by virtue of the bond, Mrs. Robbins had no independent duty to somehow hurry and mitigate her damages as contemplated in the

---

<sup>3</sup> See Reynolds v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Company, 309 F.Supp. 548, 565 (D.C. Utah 1970)("What a 'reasonable time' may be will vary from case to case.").

<sup>4</sup> No doubt that had the price of the stock stayed the same after the conversion and then started to increase substantially in price after 90 days, Appellants would themselves be arguing before this Court that 90 days is a "reasonable time." Thus, had it benefited them, and, based on Guardalabene's alleged inability to "get to the bottom" of the matter within at least 90 days, the Appellants would surely be arguing that 90 days is a "reasonable time" within which to measure the damages in this case.



various "New York Rule" cases exclusively relied upon by Appellants, particularly when it is undisputed that no one told her to do so.

Finally, respecting the issue of attorney's fees, the lower court awarded attorney's fees as part of Mrs. Robbins' partial summary judgment damages. This is evidenced by the very language of such judgment and the exhibits attached to it and incorporated by reference. See Exhibit 2; R. 818-823. The same is further evidenced by the lower court having ordered Mrs. Robbins to divulge her agreement with counsel -- after the partial summary judgment award. (R. 800-801, Minute Entry.) There is simply no evidence in the record that the lower court awarded attorney's fees as sanctions. To be sure, Mrs. Robbins never argued that she was entitled to attorney's fees on that basis (R. 351-378, p. 22 thereof and R. 754-778).<sup>5</sup> At the same time, the Appellants never argued that Mrs. Robbins wasn't entitled to attorney's fees because the same is tantamount to sanctions (R. 439-449). Moreover, after arguing over what the attorney's fees should be and, after discovering Mrs. Robbins' agreement with counsel, the parties in effect stipulated to the

-----  
5

In support of the court's award of attorney's fees, Mrs. Robbins attached a complete copy of South San Pitch Company v. Pack, 97 Utah Adv. Rep. 42, 44-45, 765 P.2d 1279 (Ut. Ct. of App. 1988). See R. 775-778. In South San Pitch, the Court of Appeals held that attorney's fees can, under certain limited circumstances, be awarded as an element of a party's damages.

amount of attorney's fees to be awarded.<sup>6</sup> Furthermore, the lower court specifically denied a separate motion made by Mrs. Robbins for sanctions. (Ex. 1 hereto; R. 710-712, ¶6 thereof.) Thus, the argument that attorney's fees were awarded as "sanctions" is frivolous. The same is also raised on appeal for the first time. Accordingly, this issue, as argued by Appellants on pp. 21-24 of their brief, cannot be considered. Olson v. Park-Craig-Olson, Inc., 167 Utah Adv. Rep. 18, 21, \_\_\_ P.2d \_\_\_ (Ut. Ct. of App., August 14, 1991)(failure to raise issues below precludes raising them on appeal); Bangerter v. Poulton, supra at 102.<sup>7</sup>

#### DETAIL OF ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

THE LOWER COURT WAS CORRECT IN DETERMINING  
THAT \$1-5/16ths PER SHARE IS MRS. ROBBINS' DAMAGES.

The only issue before this Court -- an issue the parties could not agree on -- is the proper measure of damages for conversion of chattels having a fluctuating value. Specifically, what is the appropriate measure of damages for the intentional,

-----  
<sup>6</sup> The record evidences that Mrs. Robbins initially sought \$10,000 in attorney's fees. (Exhibit 3 hereto, ¶3, p. 2 bott., R. 390; R. 351-378, p. 22 thereof; R. 754-778.) When the Appellants disputed such amount and were able -- with the lower court's assistance -- to discover Mrs. Robbins' agreement with her counsel (R. 800-801), the parties agreed in open court that one-third of the partial summary judgment or some-\$4,000 was the proper amount to be awarded. This is because, based on Mrs. Robbins' agreement with counsel, Exhibit "A" to Exhibit 2 hereto, Mrs. Robbins would not be out-of-pocket any more than one-third of the partial summary judgment or approximately \$4,000.

<sup>7</sup> See also R. 782-789, pp. 3-6 therein, Defendants' Objection and Memorandum in Opposition to Award of Attorney's Fees in which Appellants admit that Mrs. Robbins is entitled to attorney's fees for prevailing on Counts I and II.

knowing and willful conversion of and wrongful refusal to transfer Mrs. Robbins' 8,000 shares of of Check Rite stock?

Jurisdictions are split on the measure of damages for conversion of property having a fluctuating value. Brougham supra at p. 144. There is an even greater split depending upon whether the conversion was willful and knowing. Id. Ironically, however, using any one of the several recognized ways of measuring the damages in this case, the result is the same: the appropriate amount is \$1-5/16ths per share. Thus, any way one cares to look at it, the lower court was correct.

A. One recognized measure of damages is the highest price of the stock between the date of conversion and the date of trial. According to the undisputed facts, such is \$1-5/16ths per share and therefore, the lower court was correct.

Reference is made to 40 ALR 1282 which discusses damages for conversion of property having a fluctuating value. In Bennett v. Tucker & Pennington, 20 Ga. App. 288, 123 S.E. 165, 166 (Ga. Ct. of App. 1924), the court recognized the right to recover in trover the highest value between the date of conversion and trial. In this case, Mrs. Robbins' stock was not converted in good faith. The conversion was intentional or as the result of culpable negligence. To be sure, by virtue of the bond, there is no excuse for either Defendant Atlas or Check Rite not going into the market and immediately buying Mrs. Robbins replacement stock. It is further undisputed that Defendants

Atlas, Check Rite, and Old Republic had notice that the stock was proceeding to increase in price up to and through the beginning of August, 1988. (See Ex. 7 hereto, Affidavit of Potter Investment Company and Exhibit "L" to Mrs. Robbins' amended complaint.)

Unlike cases relied upon by the Old Republic, Atlas and Check Rite -- cases which do not involve a bond -- this is not, by any means, a case of innocent or inadvertent conversion and therefore, the foregoing measure of damages applies. Cases further hold that if a trespass is willful, fraudulent, or under circumstances imputing negligence to the trespasser, thus showing that he is indifferent to the rights of others, and in cases of property of a fluctuating value, the plaintiff, at his option, may sue and recover upon the basis of the highest intermediate value to the date of trial. Burmarsal Company, Inc. v. Lake, 272 S.W. 582, 584 (Tex. Civ. App. 1925).<sup>8</sup>

Based on the theory of continuing conversion, the measure of damages would include a time period up to and until at

-----  
<sup>8</sup> There is but one occasional difficulty with this measure, and it occurs only if the property, after a long time, is still in the possession of the defendant. In Ingram v. Rankin, 47 Wis. 406, 32 Am. Rep. 762, 2 N.W. 755, 764 (Sup. Ct. Wis. 1879), the court stated that in those cases where the market value is very fluctuating, great injustice would be done by this rule to the man who honestly converted such property, in the belief that it was his own, if, after the lapse of five or six years, he should be called upon to pay the highest market value it had obtained during that extended time. Such is not the case here because in this case we are talking about a time period of less than ninety (90) days after the willful and knowing conversion, a time period in which Appellants disingenuously claim that they -- not Mrs. Robbins -- didn't know what to do. Further, there is no dispute that Appellants did not convert the property "in the honest belief that it was their own." Id.

least the first part of August, 1988.<sup>9</sup> The theory of continuing conversion occurs only in cases in which the property remains in the possession of the defendant subsequent to the conversion. This is because in the event the wrongdoer has parted with property to another person, the conversion ceases and passes to that next person. In this case, Defendant Atlas still maintains possession of Certificate 258 and it has refused to issue and deliver Mrs. Robbins a replacement certificate. In doing absolutely nothing and in further shirking its responsibilities by misdirecting Mrs. Robbins to Old Republic, Defendant Atlas has also profited from its own wrongdoing.<sup>10</sup>

In Devlin v. Pike, (N.Y. 1874) 5 Daly (New York Common Pleas Reports) 85, the court stated that if the property at the time of trial is of greater value than it was at the time of the conversion, and the defendant is still in possession of it, the plaintiff is entitled to recover its increased value at the time of trial. In Gowan v. Wisconsin-Alabama Lumber Co., 215 Ala. 231, 110 S. 31, 33 (Sup. Ct. Ala. 1926), an instruction was approved that, if the jury believed that the timber converted had a fluctuating value, they were authorized to find for the

---

<sup>9</sup> For a list of authority that the measure of damages is the highest price between the date of conversion and the time of trial, see 48 ALR 1301. See also 87 ALR 818, a supplement to 40 ALR 1282.

<sup>10</sup> In fact, to date, Defendants Atlas and Check Rite are out-of-pocket nothing. This is because under the terms of the open penalty indemnity bond subject of this case, Old Republic has been paying all their attorney's fees.

plaintiff for the highest value as shown by the evidence, with interest from the date of conversion. Accord: Young v. Corbitt Motor Truck Company, 148 S.C. 511, 146 S.E. 534, 544 (Sup. Ct. S.C., 1929)(damages are highest value up to the time of trial with interest thereon).

There is no dispute that the highest price the stock reached between the alleged date of conversion and today (i.e., a date prior to any prospective trial) is one dollar and five-sixteenths cents (\$1-5/16ths) per share. Accordingly, the lower court's judgment, which embraces this amount, is correct.

B. Another recognized measure of damages is the highest price of the stock between the date of conversion and notice of conversion, on the one hand, and a "reasonable time" afterwards, on the other. Because July end/August beginning 1988 is a "reasonable time" after mid-May 1988, the lower court's award of \$1-5/16ths per share is correct.

In Western Securities Co. v. Silver King Consolidated Mining Co. of Utah, 192 P. 664, 672 (1920), this Court applied the so-called "New York Rule."<sup>11</sup> See also Nephi Processing Plant

-----  
<sup>11</sup> Mrs. Robbins submits that a strict application of the New York Rule may be inapplicable to this case. Such rule grew out of New York Stock Exchange cases involving conversion of customers' securities as in the cases cited by Appellants. Such is inapplicable to the facts of this case because, not being a customer and the transaction not involving a sale in the market, Mrs. Robbins was not required to deliver stock to anyone else. Accordingly, Mrs. Robbins was not under any extraordinary duty or other urgency to mitigate her own damages as in situations where the converted securities must be delivered in short order to a third party. Most importantly, however, the cases cited by Appellants do not involve the existence of an open penalty indemnity bond, a fact which excuses Mrs. Robbins from being required to do anything other than what she did.

v. Talbott, 247 F.2d 771 (10th Cir. 1957). Under the "New York Rule," damages are the highest price of the converted property within a "reasonable time" after the owner has notice of the conversion. According to 161 ALR 323, there is no guide under the New York Rule as to what is a "reasonable time."<sup>12</sup> In Mullen v. J.J. Quinlan & Co., 195 N.Y. 109, 24 LRA (N.S.) 511, 87 N.E. 1078, 1080 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., App. Div. 1909), the court held that where the action was for conversion of stock shares and for a quantity of wheat, the prices for which, it was alleged, had increased after the conversion, damages for the conversion would be based on the highest market value within two (2) months of the conversion, if such time, under all of the circumstances of the case was a reasonable one.<sup>13</sup> In Scott v. Rogers, (1864) 31 N.Y. 676, the court held that four (4) months after the conversion was a reasonable time. In Scott, quoted at 40 ALR 1285, the court stated:

. . . If it be clear upon the evidence that an immediate or speedy sale were contemplated, I think such a fact would contract the limits of this reasonable period. If it were clear that months were expected to intervene before a sale should take place, I see no objection to extending this reasonable period to a similar length. If the evidence reflected no light on the subject, then a reasonable period would probably be a question of law. . . .

-----  
<sup>12</sup> See footnote 3 above citing Reynolds v. Texas Gulf Sulphur.

<sup>13</sup> Therein, the trial court was authorized to determine as a question of law what constituted a "reasonable time." Mullen at 87 N.E. 1080. See Standard of Review subsection under Statement of Issues above.

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